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PART ONE 

 

I.  Legal basis for conducting the Internal Audit 

 
Article 5.8 of the World Anti-Doping Code, according to which: “Anti-Doping 
Organizations shall ensure they are able to do each of the following, as applicable and in 
accordance with the International Standard for Testing and Investigations: 

 
5.8.1 Obtain, assess and process anti-doping intelligence from all available sources to 
inform the development of an effective, intelligent and proportionate test distribution 
plan, to plan Target Testing, and/or to form the basis of an investigation into a possible 
anti-doping rule violation(s); and 

 
5.8.2 Investigate Atypical Findings and Adverse Passport Findings, in accordance with 
Articles 7.4 and 7.5 respectively; and 

 
5.8.3 Investigate any other analytical or non-analytical information or intelligence that 
indicates a possible anti-doping rule violation(s), in accordance with Articles 7.6 and 7.7, 
in order either to rule out the possible violation or to develop evidence that would 
support the initiation of an anti-doping rule violation proceeding.” 

 
Article 20.5.7 of the World Anti-Doping Code, according to which, HUNADO has to  
“vigorously pursue all potential anti-doping rule violations within its jurisdiction 
including investigation into whether Athlete Support Personnel or other Persons may 
have been involved in each case of doping and to ensure proper enforcement of 
Consequences.” 

 
Article 1.1 of Information (Intelligence) Collection and Processing Policy of HUNADO, 
according to which: „HUNADO shall obtain information on activities and behaviours 
suggesting or indicating the use of doping from all available sources, including from 
athletes and athlete support personnel (including substantial assistance provided in 
accordance with Article 10.6.1 of the Code) and from representatives of the public, 
including from PSIs1 or anonymous informants, sample collectors (through reports of 
sample collection sessions, event reports or otherwise), laboratories, pharmaceutical 
companies, national sports associations, event organizers, law enforcement agencies, 
other regulatory and disciplinary bodies, and the media. HUNADO's Analysis and 
Investigation Team is free to decide how the investigation is conducted or when it is to 
be completed.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 PSI – Personal Source of Information 
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II. Principles of the Internal Audit 

 
HUNADO's Internal Audit Group acted in accordance with the following principles when 
conducting the Internal Audit:  
 

Á Impartiality 
Á Good faith and fairness 
Á Transparency 
Á Promptness 
Á Attention to detail 

III. Basis of the Internal Audit 

 
A documentary film “The Lord of the Lifters”/”Herr der Heber” (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Documentary”), concerning the International Weightlifting Federation, made by “Eye 
Opening Media Gmbh” Agency, broadcast by ARD Television at 18:45, on the 5 January, 2020. 
The Documentary made several references to the work of HUNADO's doping control officers, 
and HUNADO is therefore obliged to investigate these allegations in accordance with the rules 
governing it. The Internal Audit is based on the allegations made in the Documentary Film and 
additional evidence obtained on the basis of these allegations.    

IV. Subject of the Internal Audit 

 
The subject of Internal Audit is the following: 
 

Á the allegations made in the Documentary concerning HUNADO,2 
Á the alleged sampling mentioned in the Documentary, 
Á samples taken during the alleged sampling referred to in the Documentary, 
Á persons referred to in the Documentary who may be associated with HUNADO 

involved in the alleged sampling, 
Á additional persons referred to in the Documentary who may not be involved in the 

alleged sampling and who may be linked to HUNADO. 

V. The purpose of the Internal Audit 

 
The purpose of the investigation was to determine whether any HUNADO experts were 
involved in any of the abuses mentioned in the Documentary. 
 
To do all this, the following must be specified: 
 

Á the place and time of the alleged sampling sessions, 
Á the sample code numbers, 
Á the names of the doping control officers involved in the sampling  
Á the names of the tested athletes. 

                                                 
2 The program was geo-blocked in Hungary on the day the investigation was launched, it is not available on the 
Internet, therefore it was unknown to HUNADO until January 17, 2020. 
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VI.  The means of the Internal Audit 

 
In accordance with Article 3.2 of the World Anti-Doping Code (WADA Code): „Facts related to 
anti-doping rule violations may be established by any reliable means, including admissions.” 
 
The results of the present investigation may be used in a possible doping procedure, i.e. they 
may support a potential anti-doping rule violation. In view of the above, and subject to the 
provisions of the WADA Code, the means of Internal Audit include any legally permissible 
means by which there is a reasonable presumption that an anti-doping rule violation will be 
proven by reliable means. 
 
The tools of Internal Audit are in particular: 
 

Á contacting anti-doping organizations, laboratories, other organizations, and 
authorities, 

Á hearing witnesses, obtaining statements, 
Á obtaining expert opinions, 
Á obtaining databases (e.g. ADAMS), 
Á interpretation and evaluation of the above separately and together, drawing 

conclusions. 

VII. Use of findings of the Internal Audit  

 
The Documentary examines the involvement of athletes and sports professionals in the 
context of doping control. Considering that a Doping Control Officer qualifies as a Sports 
Professional under Act I of 2004 on Sport, whether an Athlete or a Doping Control Officer 
should be proven as involved, they should be treated as a suspect and against the person 
reasonably suspected  

 
Á doping proceedings must be initiated, 
Á in case the involvement of a person within the jurisdiction of another anti-doping 

organization is suspected, the relevant anti-doping organization (e.g. NADO of 
another country, international federation) should be informed and the available 
evidence should be shared, 

Á in case the act in question raises a suspicion of a criminal offense, the competent 
investigating authority (police, prosecutor's office) must be informed and the 
available evidence must be shared with these organizations. 

 
The findings of this Internal Audit will be sent to the World Anti-Doping Agency (hereinafter 
"WADA"). 
 

VIII. History 

 
1. „Eye Opening Media GmbH” asks HUNADO questions in 2019, dates of the exchange of 

letters: 
 

a) 20.08.2019 -  Grit Hartmann’s letter to HUNADO, 



9 

 

b) 26.08.2019: HUNADO’s reply, 
c) 26.08.2019: Grit Hartmann’s letter to HUNADO, 
d) 27.08.2019: HUNADO’s reply, 
e) 27.08.2019: Grit Hartmann’s letter to HUNADO, 
f) 28.08.2019: HUNADO’s reply, 
g) 27.11.2019: Nick Butler’s letter to HUNADO, 
h) 10.12.2019: HUNADO’s reply. 

 
The news agency asks vague questions about whether HUNADO is aware of any abuse 
concerning doping controls in the practice of the International Weightlifting Federation 
(IWF). HUNADO was not aware of any abuse, attempt or suspicion, and therefore 
provided an appropriate response. HUNADO has been cooperating with the media agency 
throughout, answering all questions in full detail on the basis of the available the 
information. 

 
2. At 6:45 pm, 5 January, 2020, ARD Television broadcasts a Documentary focusing on the 

International Weightlifting Federation, which, in addition to its main topic, contains 
serious statements about HUNADO's doping control officers, although only tangentially. 
 

3. On 6 January 2020, the Internal Audit Group of HUNADO meets and holds an 
extraordinary meeting in accordance with HUNADO's internal rules. The findings of the 
Internal Audit Group are as follows: 

 
a) ARD television broadcasting is geo-blocked, cannot be viewed in Hungary; 

 
b) the Hungarian press publishes as a leading news the news received by Sportschau and 

other German newspapers (eg Süddeautsche Zeitung) accusing HUNADO doping 
control officers of corruption (Annexes 1-2); 

 
c) since the establishment of HUNADO in 2007, no suspicions have arisen regarding the 

impeccable work of doping control officers: no complaint concerning the work of 
doping control officers has been received either on a sampling form or in any other 
way, in particular through an anonymous report on www.antidopping.hu; 
 

d) HUNADO's partners mentioned in the Documentary Film (IWF, Cologne Laboratory) 
and other anti-doping organizations (e.g. NADOs) have never received any information 
or reports objecting to the work or attitude of doping control officers; 
 

e) however, in accordance with HUNADO's internal regulations, all reports or information 
obtained from other sources (e.g. the press) concerning the impartiality or regularity 
of doping control shall be subject to investigation; 
 

f)  the Internal Audit Group defines the steps of the Internal Audit process (point IX) and 
initiates the investigation with immediate effect. 
 

4. On 6 January, 2020, following the meeting of the Internal Audit Group, HUNADO issues a 
press release in Hungarian and English (Annex 3). 
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5. On 8 January 2020, HUNADO notifies the World Anti-Doping Agency of the initiation of 
the investigation (Annex 4). 

 
6. On 8 January, 2020, HUNADO writes to Hajo Seppelt, the head of the Documentary Film 

Production Team, requesting the release of the Documentary, the relevant videos and 
evidence of HUNADO's doping control officers. In order to ensure the fullest possible 
transparency, HUNADO requests that ARD copy WADA in its letters in each case (Annex 
5). 

 
7. On 10 January, 2020, HUNADO issues a press release in Hungarian and English (Annex 6). 

 
8. In response to HUNADO's statement, articles and comments continue to appear on the 

website www.sportschau.de (Annex 7) and on the Community website of Nick Butler (Eye 
Opening Media GmbH) (Annex 8), while at the request of HUNADO, neither the original 
video recordings (statement by Moldovan Dr. Dorin Balmus) nor the alleged evidence 
supporting the involvement of Hungarian doping controllers were released. 

 
9. On 11 January 2020, HUNADO receives a single short letter from the Media Crew: Hajo 

Seppelt responds that he would get back to HUNADO after discussing HUNADO's request 
(Annex 9). 

 
10. The Media Crew, not fulfilling what was included in their letter referred to in point VIII. 9., 

has not sent any further letters or requests to HUNADO. 
 

11. Despite HUNADO's express request (Section VIII. 6), the Media Crew did not copy WADA 
in its single unfairly short letter to HUNADO (Section VIII. 9). 

 
12. On 15 January, 2020, an English subtitled version of the Documentary is released on the 

Youtube community channel: https://youtu.be/FLYzWqP1UF4. The Media Crew that 
made the Documentary film had not notified HUNADO of the publication of the 
Documentary Film, the Internal Audit Group learns about the publication of the film on 17 
January 2020 completely by chance. Detailed processing of the English text begins. 

http://www.sportschau.de/
https://twitter.com/hajoseppelt/status/1217400515727970304?s=20
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IX. Stages of the Internal Audit 

 
The stages of the Internal Audit process were defined by the Internal Audit Group at its 
meeting on 6 January 2020, which are as follows: 
 

1. Notification to WADA: given that WADA is the global anti-doping control body, WADA 
should be notified of the initiation of the proceeding and that WADA should be given 
access to the investigation at any time, either in person or by electronic means; 
 

2. Acquisition of the Documentary (video): given that the Documentary itself is still not 
available in Hungary, it must be obtained from a German-speaking area; the 
Documentary forms the basis of the Internal Audit (Section III); 
 

3. Acquisition of the Documentary script: the Documentary script must be obtained or 
produced, given that further conclusions can be drawn from the script on the subject 
of the Internal Audit (Section IV); 
 

4. Analysis of the script of the Documentary Film: the contents of the Documentary Film 
concerning HUNADO must be examined in detail, sentence by sentence; 
 

5. Obtaining the evidence referred to in the textbook of the Documentary Film (direct 
testimonies, documents, expert opinions, other facts, information) from an authentic 
source, for this purpose finding the persons and organizations concerned; 
 

6. Obtaining additional evidence, if this is still necessary in the light of the evidence 
obtained in accordance with Section IX. 5; 
 

7. Completion of the Internal Audit, i.e. 
 
a) the analysis of the authenticity of the Documentary Film, the interpretation and 
evaluation of the obtained evidence separately and together, the drawing of 
conclusions; 
 
b) closing the Internal Audit by decision; 
 
c) to substantiate the allegations of the Documentary, i.e. in case of involvement of 
athletes and / or doping control officers, to initiate doping proceedings against the 
person concerned, to be held liable if necessary, to notify the authorities in case of 
suspicion of a criminal offense; 
 
d) in case of unfounded allegations of the Documentary, taking appropriate legal 
action against the ARD channel (press correction, legal remedies in case of damage to 
reputation, compensation); 
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e) informing WADA of the results of the Internal Audit, sending the Internal Audit 
Report to WADA; 
 
f) communicating the results of Internal Audit. 
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PART TWO 

X. Conducting the internal Audit  

1. Notification of the World Anti-Doping Agency 

On 8 January, 2020, HUNADO notified the World Anti-Doping Agency of the initiation of 
its Internal Audit, while ensuring that, in case of any questions, in the interests of 
transparency, it was available to WADA experts (Annex 10). 

2. Obtaining the video of the Documentary  

On 8 January, 2020, HUNADO contacts Hajo Seppelt, Head of the Documentary Media 
Crew (Appendix 5) and 
 

a) informs him that HUNADO has a duty to conduct an Internal Audit in the matter, 
and also requests the Media Crew to assist in the investigation and at the same 
time in the fight against doping by sending the necessary evidence; 

b) informs him about the initiation of the Internal Audit, 
c) requests that all information be made available to HUNADO in order to carry out 

the investigation, in particular: 
ca) the names of the doping control officers allegedly involved in the case, 
cb) the dates of the samplings 
cc) the sample codes of the samples allegedly affected by the manipulation 
cd) all relevant videos and testimonies, 

d) in the interests of transparency, request that a copy of WADA's staff be included 
at all times in its reply to HUNADO. 
 

In his reply of 11 January 2020 (Annex 9), Hajo Seppelt stated that he would reply after 
the internal discussion of HUNADO's request. („We will discuss your request internally 
and will get back to you afterwards.”) In his reply, he did not copy WADA and has not 
replied HUNADO until the date of this report. 
 
The Internal Audit Group learns about the publication of the Documentary film on a 
completely accidental basis on 17 January, 2020 (see VIII. 12), which makes the viewing 
and primary analysis of the Documentary possible. As the information referred to in point 
(c) above had not been sent, further steps should be taken in this respect (see Section 
X.5). 

3. Obtaining the script of the Documentary   

As HUNADO did not receive a response to its request, it was unable to obtain the official 
script, either. On 10 January, 2020, HUNADO obtains the English translation of the 
Documentary (Annex 11) in unofficial way. 

4. Analysis of the script of the Documentary  

Detailed Analysis of the Documentary script is attached as (Annex 12.) 
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4.1  Substantive findings 

4.1.1. Allegations about doping control officer Barbara Kalló 

Barbara Kalló is a highly qualified doping control officer of HUNADO, who speaks 
Hungarian, English, German, Russian and Polish languages and works in healthcare 
(hospice). Having 10 years of experience and having participated in several 
international events (London Olympics, Rio Olympics, world events in many 
sports), she is one of the most experienced, reliable doping control officers of 
HUNADO. 
 
The Documentary unfoundedly suggests that Barbara Kalló and HUNADO would 
be responsible for Lasha Talakhadze mentioned in the film not being inspected. 
Barbara Kalló and HUNADO, in its position as sample collection authority, have no 
influence on who the IWF as a testing authority tests, the sample collection 
authority only implements the testing authority's testing program (Article 3.2 
International Standard for Testing and Investigations): 
 
Testing Authority: The organization that has authorized a particular Sample 
collection, whether (1) an Anti-Doping Organization (for example, the International 
Olympic Committee or other Major Event Organization, WADA, an International 
Federation, or a National Anti-Doping Organization); or (2) another organization 
conducting Testing pursuant to the authority of and in accordance with the rules of 
the Anti-Doping Organization (for example, a National Federation that is a 
member of an International Federation). 
 
Sample Collection Authority: The organisation that is responsible for the collection 
of Samples in compliance with the requirements of the International Standard for 
Testing and Investigations, whether (1) the Testing Authority itself; or (2) another 
organization (for example, a third party contractor) to whom the Testing Authority 
has delegated or subcontracted such responsibility (provided that the Testing 
Authority always remains ultimately responsible under the Code for compliance 
with the requirements of the International Standard for Testing and Investigations 
relating to collection of Samples). 
 
Test Distribution Plan: A document written by an Anti-Doping Organization that 
plans Testing on Athletes over whom it has Testing Authority, in accordance with 
the requirements of Article 4 of the International Standard for Testing and 
Investigations. 
 
The definition of the content of the test distribution plan is therefore in all cases 
the responsibility and duty of the anti-doping organization which initiates the 
mission. The Documentary falsely suggests that it would be the responsibility of 
any HUNADO Doping Control Officer to fail to inspect any Athlete, as this would be 
a waiver of competence, and a service provider would not be in a position to do 
so. 
 
 



15 

 

4.1.2. Identifying the position of HUNADO in the Doping Control System of IWF 

HUNADO acted as a sample collection authority on behalf of the IWF in fulfilling 
the orders given by the IWF as a testing authority, which is supported by ADAMS 
data. This was also the case during the period focused on by the Documentary. In 
this context, see the findings made under section 4.1.1 as well. 
 
HUNADO has no and has not had any influence on the weightlifters to be tested. 
The possible involvement of HUNADO in any possible misuse can only be 
examined in the context of a sample collection session. The latter test must be 
carried out (see X. 4.1.7 and X. 5.6). 

4.1.3. Allegations concerning the use of HUNADO by IWF 

HUNADO has been working with the International Weightlifting Federation (IWF) 
for over 10 years. Within the framework of the legal relationship, the IWF as a 
testing authority used the services of HUNADO as a sample collection authority. 
Cooperation between the Parties as above is due to a number of circumstances: 
 

a. The geographical location of Budapest: Budapest is the capital of Hungary, 
a member state of the European Union. Hungary borders Austria on the 
west and Ukraine and Romania on the east, therefore it acts as a “bridge” 
in both Western and Eastern Europe and, as a Central European state, is 
close enough to the Asian region, where weightlifting is so popular.  
 

b. Linguistic features: As Hungary is a member of the European Union, 
HUNADO’s doping control officers speak Western European languages as 
well as Russian and other languages of the eastern region (e.g. Romanian, 
Polish). This is a clear advantage in the Eastern European and Asian region, 
where the common language is evidently Russian and not English or French. 

 
c. Prices: HUNADO works with quality, but at significantly cheaper prices than 

any other sampling agency in Western Europe. 
 

d. Smooth visa acquisition: The frequent use of HUNADO was also due to the 
fact that (i) Hungarian citizens are entitled to enter the current Eurasian 
countries of the former Soviet republics without a visa, and (ii) if their entry 
is subject to a visa, it can be obtained easily and quickly for Hungarian 
citizens. This is almost impossible for the citizens of Western European 
countries. However, HUNADO never revealed the purpose of the trip 
(doping control), it always required a tourist visa for doping control officers. 
Doping control officers thus took a personal risk with each trip in order to 
make unannounced, surprise inspections as feasible as possible. It was only 
necessary to reveal the true purpose of the trip a few times - with the prior 
information and consent of the IWF (Iran, North Korea, Belarus, 
Kyrgyzstan). 
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e. Commitment: As a non-profit organization, HUNADO is interested in one 
thing: enforcing the principle of clean sport. With its dedicated doping 
control officers, it also undertakes to conduct sampling in areas where 
Western European doping controllers would never do so (e.g., North Korea, 
Iran, including conducting doping controls in war zones, such as the 
Russian-Ukrainian war zone). HUNADO, on behalf of UKAD (UK Anti-
Doping), had also been asked to inspect Russian athletes in a number of 
other sports (rowing, wrestling, kayaking) preceding the 2016 Rio Olympics. 

 
The selection of subcontractors to be involved by an organization is a strategic, 
efficiency and financial issue, and HUNADO did not violate any rules by accepting 
IWF mandates. HUNADO carried out its work impartially and professionally. 
Taking on assignments from IWF has created an advantage not only for the whole 
of Hungary, but indirectly for the entire international sports community: primarily 
due to the IWF's mandates, a small country like Hungary (population: less than 10 
million people) has gained extensive experience in the full spectrum of conducting 
professional doping control. As a result, it has grown into one of the strongest 
NADOs in the region, performing its work independently and at the highest 
professional level, whose achievements and expertise are recognized by all its 
partner organizations. 

4.1.4. Allegations concerning the proximity of the Budapest office of HUNADO and that 
of the IWF 

Both the Budapest office of IWF and HUNADO's headquarters are located in the 
"sports district" in Budapest and in the Hungarian National Olympic Center. There 
are several stadiums and sports facilities in this district, as well as the 
headquarters of almost all national sports federations. 
 
The IWF is located in the House of Hungarian Sports (similar to the Maison du 
Sport in Lausanne), and HUNADO's head office is also located in the district, but 
not in the House of Hungarian Sports. This means that although both 
organizations operate in the sports district of Budapest, the operation of HUNADO 
does not take place in the office building where the Hungarian sports associations 
and the IWF have their offices. Although we find an international example of the 
latter case: the Swiss-based International Testing Agency (ITA) also physically 
works at Maison du Sport International, where most international sports 
federations operate. In contrast, HUNADO is separated from sports federations, 
including the IWF, both physically (locally) and legally. 
 
No infringement shall be effected by the fact that the principal and its 
subcontractor are established in one city. The same construction is implemented, 
for example, in the relation of most international federations and the ITA. 
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4.1.5. Allegations concerning the proportion of samples taken by HUNADO 

According to the Documentary, the IWF commissioned HUNADO to carry out the 
sampling at a rate of 77%.  Specific percentage-based information is not available 
to HUNADO, but HUNADO performed a number of sampling orders for the IWF, 
just as it did for other organizations (other international federations, NADOs, 
national federations). 
 
HUNADO, on behalf of the IWF, carried out sampling mainly in the Asian and 
Eastern European region. Mainly because Western European service providers, 
even if they undertake remote, eastern missions, have the sampling carried out by 
doping control officers resident in the destination country, in the vast majority of 
cases. This circumstance in some countries in the Asian region in itself calls into 
question the impartiality of sampling and bias and manipulation-free sampling. 
The out-of-competition samples in Western Europe and the United States were 
mostly performed by other anti-doping organizations than HUNADO, for which 
areas HUNADO has never been commissioned. 

 

4.1.6. Allegations made in connection with the control of the IWF World 
Championships 

The Documentary claims that all world championships were sampled by HUNADO, 
with the exception of the 2015 Houston World Championships, because in 2015, 
Houston was sampled by USADA and not HUNADO. 
 
The statement is false. Several world events have not sampled by HUNADO (eg 
2017 Junior World Championships - JADA, 2019 Junior World Championships - 
ORADO). There have also been cases where HUNADO doping control officers  
were involved in a “joint mission”. For example, in Los Angeles in 2019, where 
USADA and HUNADO were jointly responsible for conducting the sampling. 
 
The Documentary's claim that HUNADO did not participate in the doping control 
of Houston is also false. Although USADA had been designated as the sample 
collection authority in ADAMS, HUNADO doping controllers had been involved in 
doping controls, all of which is recorded in an agreement between the IWF and 
USADA. The contracted experts were provided by HUNADO to the IWF (see Annex 
13, point 8). 
 
In Houston, testing experts delegated by HUNADO carried out, among other tasks, 
the notification of athletes, where, if the Documentary's claims are accepted, a 
sampling can be most manipulated. At this stage of the sampling, the athlete's 
identity is checked, the athletes are chaperoned, etc. Although most of the 
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notifications were made by HUNADO, who is accused of corruption, a record 
amount of positive samples were obtained from the samples taken at the event. 3 
 
Although the Documentary suggests that the high number of positive World Cup 
cases is solely due to USADA’s involvement, in this respect, the following findings 
should be emphasized:   
 

- Under the USADA-IWF agreement, the test distribution plan (TDP) was 
compiled exclusively by the IWF (Annex 13, points 1 and 3). 
 

- USADA was also entitled to initiate further sampling (Annex 13, paragraph 
10). 

 

- USADA performed a mission in addition to the TDP as defined by the IWF 
(Mission Code: M-381005738) - in addition to the samples thus taken, 
USADA was designated as the testing authority in ADAMS. According to the 
IWF: „At this mission 3 athletes were tested by USADA, who had also 
competed and tested at the 2015 IWF World Championships and tested 
positive. However, these Athletes were tested negative on the mission 
requested by WADA and conducted by USADA.” (See Annex 14 especially 
the reply of IWF dated 31 January 2020 - Annex 14/B, point 2). 

 

- Therefore the USADA samples did not result in any further positive 
samples, in fact there were athletes who were inspected on behalf of the 
IWF as well as USADA, and yet, the doping control was negative for the 
samples ordered by the USADA and positive as a result of the samples 
ordered by the IWF! 

 

- The 24 positive samples collected at the Houston World Championships 
are indeed the biggest number of positive samples among the IWF World 
Championships, but the Documentary falsely gives the impression that all 
of this would be the sole merit of USADA. From the point of anti-doping 
science, a lot of circumstances can lead to a high number of positive results 
in a world event (the athlete's current doping tendency, the type of 
laboratory performing the analysis, the selection of athletes to be tested, 
the TDP strategy, etc.). 
  

- The Documentary suggests that a record amount of positive doping tests 
was born at the World Cup in Houston because USADA was also involved in 
the inspection and “brought the light to the Dark Ages”. If this argument 
were to be accepted, it would mean that not only is the record number of 
adverse analytical findings (AAFs) attributable to USADA, but also the 
historic low point of doping controls at the IWF Senior World 

                                                 
3 The case of sample manipulations identified as a result of DNA analyzes performed by the Cologne Laboratory 
also confirms that the selection for Houston samples was carried out correctly. The identity of the Athletes 
notified in Houston for both Artiom Pipa and Ghenadie Dudoglo is the same as the Athlete's actual DNA profile 
(see Section X. 5.9). 
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Championships! Based on the number of positive cases compared to the 
total number of samples taken at the World Championships, Houston has 
the highest number in 2015 (number of samples taken: 237, number of 
positive cases: 24, control efficiency: 10.13%), while Anaheim in 2017 has 
the lowest (!) (number of samples taken: 214, number of positive cases: 4, 
control efficiency: 1.87%), while HUNADO has worked with a continuous 
control efficiency of 4-5% in previous years (Annex 15) . 

 
„By the end, the US Agency in Houston had caught 24 doping sinners at a 
stroke. „So, I think this, to some extent proves the point of why we were so 
adamant about participating in the event. We weren't gonna just test for 
show.” 
 
See the Documentary script (Annex 11, page 11). 
 
If, from the number of positive test results in Houston, the Documentary 
concludes that HUNADO had only conducted “showcase doping control” in 
the years prior to 2015, it means that 2 years later, at the 2017 Anaheim 
World Championships (sample collection authority: USADA), where control 
efficiency was reduced down to 1/5, USADA “were just test for show”? 
 

The Documentary mistakenly suggests that HUNADO had not performed its work 
professionally in the years prior to 2015 and that is why USADA was designated as 
the sample collection authority in 2015. In contrast, the reality is that USADA’s 
participation was primarily based on labor law reasons (“HUNADO’s  DCOs would 
not have work visas” authorizing them to work at the World Championships) 
(Annexes 16-17). USADA was particularly pleased with HUNADO’s work, with 
HUNADO and USADA conducting doping controls for 2 more World 
Championships in the form of a “joint mission” (NADO-NADO cooperation) after 
the 2015 World Championships in Houston. 

4.1.7. Allegations of sample manipulation 

In addition to the fact that the Documentary contains allegations concerning the 
relationship between HUNADO and the IWF, it also touches on another significant 
issue. This issue is important and crucial in both the global international fight 
against doping and the assessment of HUNADO's impartiality. 
 
The Documentary presupposes no less than the fact that the Hungarian doping 
control officers delegated by HUNADO accepted unjustified advantages from 
Moldovan athletes in order for Moldovan athletes to evade anti-doping liability. 
 
This section of Internal Audit deals exclusively with this issue. 
 
The Documentary features the statements of different individuals, edited together 
one after the other, in such an order and with such content that the overall 
picture suggests the participation of HUNADO doping control officers. However, 
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none of these individuals allege that a Hungarian doping control officer ever asked 
for or accepted money. Which people's statements are these? 
 
Basically, statements need to be examined from 4 sources: 
 
1. Oliver Caruso, German weightlifter’s statements;  
2. Statements by Moldovan team doctor Dorin Balmus; 
3. The narrator’s statements; 
4. Statements by analytical expert Hans Geyer. 

4.1.7.1.1. Statement by Oliver Caruso in the Documentary 

German weightlifter Oliver Caruso states in the Documentary that in Moldova, 
clean sampling is available for national (domestic) sampling at a price of $ 60 and 
international sampling for $ 200 (Annex 11, page 12). According to Oliver Caruso, 
the above statement comes from Moldovan sports doctor Dorin Balmus. 
 
The Documentary thus indirectly refers to Dorin Balmus as the source of the 
above information. 
 
As part of the Documentary, hidden camera footage was also taken with 
Moldovan sports doctor Dorin Balmus (an examination of this, see X.4.1.7.2). The 
statements made by Oliver Caruso are only relevant to the present investigation 
as to whether, on the basis of what has been said, there is a reality that HUNADO 
can be associated with abuses in national / international sampling. 

 
Investigation of HUNADO's involvement in national / international doping 
controls: 

 
a) National testing: with regard to National testing, HUNADO doping control 

officers have never been (and could not have been) involved in Moldovan 
national testings, as this is the sole responsibility of the Moldovan NADO 
(World Anti-Doping Code, Article 5.2); with this respect HUNADO did not 
consider it necessary to obtain any further evidence beyond that requested 
by the ARD (see point VIII.6). Furthermore, HUNADO has never been 
commissioned by Moldavian national stakeholders; 
 

b) International testing: HUNADO's doping control officers carried out 
international sampling on behalf of the IWF as a testing authority, so further 
evidence is required in this area (see Section X.5). 

 
HUNADO is not entitled to perform national testing in Moldova. In order to find 
out if there has been any abuse in international testings, it is essential to obtain a 
further statement from Dorin Balmus. It is also necessary to obtain additional 
information from Dorin Balmus because the information provided by Oliver 
Caruso is indirect (i.e., derived from Dr. Balmus). 
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Finally, it should be noted that Oliver Caruso does not at all mention the 
involvement of HUNADO's doping control officers. 

4.1.7.2. Statement by Moldovan doctor Dorin Balmus in the Documentary 

Dr. Balmus speaks about the Moldovan practice of donating samples from donors 
instead of athlete samples for doping control purposes (Annex 11, pages 12-13). 
 
2 hidden camera interviews were conducted with Dorin Balmus: one in August 
2019 and then in November 2019. These interviews should be examined 
separately and together. 

4.1.7.2.1. Hidden camera footage, August 2019 

From the August 2019 recording, only one sentence was edited into the 
Documentary (from 14:45 minutes to 15:20 minutes, see also Annex 11, pages 12-
13). 
 
„Narrator: We spend several hours talking to Dorin Balmus. He gets on to the 
subject of doping tests as a passing comment: 
 
Dorin Balmus: Well, we were tested by anti-doping officers from Hungary. 
 
Narrator: He remains rather vague during this discussion. We meet again in 
November. And this time he speaks openly.” 
 
The Documentary itself states that the conversation lasted for long hours, yet 
there is only one, rather general sentence to be inserted into the Documentary, 
namely that Hungarian doping inspectors checked Moldovan athletes. 
 
We do not know how and on what topic the conversation took place over several 
hours, therefore we do not know in what context the statement was made. 
 
„Well, we were tested by anti-doping officers from Hungary.” It seems like a 
simple sentence, but it is not: this is the sentence on which the Documentary 
bases its statements accusing HUNADO. The message of the Documentary about 
HUNADO was built on this one sentence. 
 
The adjective “Hungarian” is uttered in countless cases during the film: 
 
▪ “The man who brought the World Championships here nonetheless is a 

Hungarian.” – Annex 11. page 8,4 

▪ “The Hungarian Barbara Kallo.” – Annex 11. page 8,5 
▪ „Hungarian anti-doping agency” – Annex 11. page 8,6 

                                                 
4 The statement to the President of the IWF is irrelevant to the present investigation. 
5 Examination of the statement will be explained in Section X. 4.1.1. 
6 HUNADO doping inspectors took the samples at the 2019 IWF European Championships. Findings related to the 
mandate of HUNADO are explained in Section X. 4.1.2. and 4.1.3. 
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▪ „Close to the historic centre of the Hungarian capital, in Budapest’s station 
district” - Annex 11. page 9,7 

▪ „just a short walk away, around the corner, in the House of Hungarian Sports” - 
Annex 11. page 9,8 

▪ „IWF nearly always hires the Hungarians” - Annex 11. page 9,9 
▪ „Hungarian Television recordings – Annex 11. page 27,10 
▪ „Hungarian TV portrays him as a believing Christian.” – Annex 11. page 28,11  
▪ „Translation from Hungarian TV” – Annex 11. page 28,12 
▪ „I’m working 45 years in the Hungarian sport and in the international sport, and 

never before somebody accused me on this way.” – Annex 11. page 33.13 
 
Similarly, the noun "Hungary": 
 
▪ „Hungary’s anti-doping organisation” - Annex 11. page 9,14 
▪ „The IWF had originally planned that Hungary’s HUNADO would also be 

responsible for testing in Houston.” - Annex 11. page 10,15 
▪ „primary responsibility was assumed by the US, and not Hungary” - Annex 11. 

page 11,16 
▪ „Well, we were tested by anti-doping officers from Hungary” - Annex 11. page 

13, 
▪ „There is much to suggest that it was testers from Hungary’s HUNADO who 

were involved in this dirty game. Was that the case?” - Annex 11. page 13 (the 
latter is a question that comes from the narrator, and which we deal with in X. 
4.1.7.2.2.), 

▪ „Tamás Aján started out as a teacher of physical education in communist 
Hungary in the sixties” – Annex 11. page 27. 17 

 
The Documentary entirely bases the assumption that Hungarian doping 
controllers are involved in corruption practices on a single sentence from Dorin 
Balmus: „Well, we were tested by anti-doping officers from Hungary”.  

 
Our findings:  
 
▪ Balmus only mentions that their athletes were tested by doping control officers 
of Hungarian nationality, but does not mention that they requested or accepted 
an undue advantage; 

                                                 
7 Findings on the issues of HUNADO’s headquarters are found in X. 4.1.4. 
8 Findings on the issues of HUNADO’s headquarters are found in X. 4.1.4. 
9 Findings on the proportion of tests conducted by HUNADO are found in X. 4.1.5. 
10 Statement irrelevant to the present investigation.  
11 Statement concerning the president of IWF, irrelevant to the present investigation.   
12 Statement concerning the president of IWF, irrelevant to the present investigation.   
13 Statement concerning the president of IWF, irrelevant to the present investigation.   
14 Findings on the issues of HUNADO’s headquarters are found in X. 4.1.4.. 
15 Findings on the proportion of tests conducted by HUNADO are found in X. 4.1.5. 
16 The reasons for the cooperation between HUNADO and IWF are explained in X. 4.1.3. 
17 Statement concerning the president of IWF, irrelevant to the present investigation.   
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▪ it does not follow from the phrase “Hungarian doping control officer” that the 
doping control officer is a doping control officer employed by HUNADO, as a 
doping control officer of Hungarian nationality may be employed by another 
organization, as there are example for that as well; 
▪ Doping inspectors employed by HUNADO have already tested Moldovan athletes 
in an undisguised manner, but it does not follow from the above statement that 
they have engaged in illegal practices. 
 
From a single-sentence statement edited from Dorin Balmus’s hidden camera 
footage in August 2019, no direct conclusion can be drawn regarding the 
involvement of HUNADO. Despite the express request of HUNADO (see Section 
VIII. 6), the Media Crew that produces the Documentary has not provided 
HUNADO with any additional data or hidden camera footage. 
 
Request for further clarification from Dorin Balmus (see X.5.8) is needed. 

4.1.7.2.2. Hidden camera footage, November 2019 

Dorin Balmus is visited again in November 2019 and a new hidden camera footage 
is made. Details from this recording are given in the Documentary between 15:22 
and 16:05: 
 
"Narrator: He remains rather vague during this discussion. We meet again in 
November. And this time he speaks openly. 
 
Dorin Balmus: When anti-doping officers came, we got hold of doppelgängers – 
people who resembled our athletes. They provided clean urine. And we paid up.  
 
Undercover Journalist: You got others to pee for you and paid the officers? 
 
Dorin Balmus: Yes, you also pay for them not to look closely at your passport. And 
when they left, the people got as much money as they needed - and that was that. 
They knew they could earn money here. 
 
Narrator: Clean urine for cash? With doppelgängers? There is much to suggest that 
it was testers from Hungary’s HUNADO who were involved in this dirty game. Was 
that the case? The key to the answer lies in Cologne." 
 
During the interview conducted in November 2019, no reference is made to the 
involvement of Hungarian doping control officers, Balmus's statements are only 
made in general terms. The interviews of August 2019 and November 2019, placed 
side by side, suggest the involvement of Hungarian doping control officers (and not 
HUNADO's doping cotrol office!). It is only the narrator who adds that there is good 
reason to believe that the abuses reported by Balmus involved HUNADO's doping 
control officers, which also raises the possibility of the German television channel's 
bad faith. 
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Additional evidence is required to interpret the interviews together: it is essential to 
obtain an interpretative statement from Dorin Balmus (see X. 5.8). 

4.1.7.3. Allegations made in connection with the Cologne laboratory 

It cannot be credibly established from Dorin Balmus’s two interviews whether 
certain samples were indeed tampered with or whether HUNADO doping control 
officers were involved in all of this. 
 
However, the Documentary itself states that the sample manipulations can be 
verified by the Cologne Laboratory (Annex 11, page 13): 
 
„Clean urine for cash? With doppelgängers? 
There is much to suggest that it was testers from Hungary’s HUNADO who were 
involved in this dirty game. Was that the case? The key to the answer lies in 
Cologne.” 
 
Since the Documentary itself refers to the Cologne Laboratory itself, any evidence 
that may be found in the Cologne Laboratory must be obtained (see X. 5.9). 

4.1.8. Statement by Hans Geyer in the Documentary  

According to the Documentary, samples taken from certain athletes before the 
Houston Senior World Championships (2015) resulted in negativity and then other 
samples taken at the World Championships in Houston resulted in positivity (Annex 
11, page 14): 
 
„But something mysterious happened in 2015. 
 
IWF officers had tested athletes directly before the World Championships – the urine 
samples were checked in Cologne. Clean.   
  
But shortly after that, in tests carried out by the US Anti-Doping Agency at the World 
Championships, the very same athletes were caught. Traces of doping substances 
that must have been taken a while back were found in their urine.”   
 
Negative samples taken before the event were analyzed in Cologne. Positive 
samples taken during the World Championships were also analyzed in Cologne. This 
latter analysis indicated the use of a previously used prohibited drug, so Hans Geyer 
concludes by DNA testing that donors provided the sample for negative samples 
(Annex 11, page 14): 
 
„How come nothing was detected just before that in Cologne? 
It was, to us, an inexplicable finding. We later found a number of explanations. 
There were several manipulations, in other words, urine from other sources was 
used for out-of-competition testing, we managed to find this out from the biological 
passport and using DNA analysis.” 
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The explanation of Cologne Laboratory refers to DNA analyses and the athletes’ 
biological passport data, so it is essential: 
 
a) to identify the affected samples that may have been tampered with; 
b) to obtain the results of DNA analyzes, 
c) to identify the organizations (ADOs) involved in the performance of 

manipulated sampling, 
d) to identify the doping control officers of the ADOs involved. 
 
See Section 5.9. in this regard. 

4.1.9. Documents related to HUNADO’s involvement presented in the Documentary 
(17:45 and 17:57 minutes) 

This part of the Documentary was deceptively edited. 
 

a) Image material: In the background of the Documentary, the 2014 IWF 
documents were displayed (between 17:45 and 17:57 minutes - with HUNADO 
as the sample collection authority). 

 
b) Audio material: Hans Geyer talks about 2015 manipulated patterns between 

17:00 and 17:26 minutes. Following the display of the image material (IWF 
documents) showing the above 2014 data, he again speaks about manipulated 
samples from 2015 (between 17:58 and 18:12 minutes). 

 
Highlighting the year numbers is key to interpreting the above. 
 
HUNADO did not take any samples in Moldova in 2015. 
 
However, the soundtrack is about events in 2015, while the footage shows 2014 
documents in bad faith between 17:45 pm and 17:57. It is only by slowing down / 
stopping the Documentary that one can notice that 2014 documents have been cut 
under the audio material of the 2015 events, and an average viewer cannot notice 
this. 
 
The deceptively set scene in the Documentary (a blending of the 2014 footage as 
well as the 2015 footage) suggests that HUNADO’s doping control officers were 
involved in the manipulation. However, HUNADO did not take any samples in 
Moldova in 2015. This scene in the film also gives the false impression that it would 
be confirmed by the Cologne Lab, which is unreal. 
 
It is essential to obtain DNA analytical results from the Cologne Laboratory (see 
Section 5.9.). 

4.1.10.  Changes carried out in the Documentary 

Analysing the Documentary and the script, it can be stated that there were small 
changes implemented in the version of the film uploaded to the youtube channel 
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compared to the original documentary, which was broadcast on ARD Television at 
6:45 pm on 5 January, 2020. 
 
Based on a detailed comparison of the Documentary available on the youtube 
channel and the Script provided to HUNADO: 
 
According to the Script: "... and the internal IWF documents prove that the 
Moldovan athletes were tested by IWF officers from HUNADO." (Annex 11. page 15)  
 
In the Documentary, after the above sentence is uttered, the narrator even adds "In 
2014" - 17:48 - 17-55 minutes.  
 
The reference to 2014 was included in the film on the youtube channel after 
HUNADO strongly denied in its first statement that in 2015 Hungarian doping 
inspectors would have visited Moldova. Then Nick Butler’s communication on 
Twitter already talks about the suspicious patterns of 2014.  

5. Obtaining additional evidence according to point 4 

The script of the Documentary was acquired on January 10, 2020. However, a tabloid 
press product made on a commercial basis alone 
 

▪ has no probative value, 
▪ does not contain any specific facts, data, circumstances or information on the 

basis of which HUNADO would be able to search for athletes, sports professionals 
or doping control officers involved in any possible manipulation in compliance 
with the provisions of the WADA Code, 

▪ is incapable of conclusions being drawn from it and forming the basis of a 
professional internal investigation, 

▪ however, it can be a good starting point for obtaining additional information. 
 

Therefore, further evidence needs to be obtained from credible sources in order to 
continue the internal audit. 

 
These are the following: 

 
a) Obtaining Evidence from the Documentary Media Crew, 
b) Obtaining the Cooperation Agreement between HUNADO and the IWF, 
c) Obtaining IWF records (which World Championships did HUNADO do sampling?), 
d) Obtaining the contract between IWF and USADA (Houston, 2015), 
e) Obtaining Correspondence from the IWF and USADA, featured in the Documentary, 
f) Obtaining Correspondence from the IWF and WADA, also featured in the 

Documentary, 
g) Obtaining of HUNADO and IWF records (question: Did HUNADO’s doping control 

officers take samples in Moldova, and if so, who and when?), 

h) Declaration by Doping Control Officers possibly involved in Moldovan sampling, 

i) Obtaining a statement by Dorin Balmus for further details, 
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j) Obtaining the results of the DNA analyses from the Cologne Laboratory. 

5.1. Obtaining Evidence from the Documentary Media Crew 

The first measures of the investigation included contacting the Media Crew of the 
Documentary filmmaker and requesting further evidence in their possession (VIII.6). 
 
Since the Media Crew did not provide HUNADO with any further data, facts or evidence, 
HUNADO was forced to search directly for the source of each piece of information. At the 
same time, we assume that if the Media Crew had additional evidence, it would have 
been included in the Documentary. 

5.2.  Obtaining the Cooperation Agreement between HUNADO and the IWF 

During the cooperation between HUNADO and the IWF (Annexes 18-19), HUNADO, as a 
sample collection authority, carried out the sampling on behalf of the IWF. HUNADO has 
never been involved in the development of a test distribution plan for out-of-competition 
inspections. In each case, the names of the athletes to be inspected were made available 
to HUNADO by the IWF Clean Sport Commission as part of individual orders. 
 
The agreement reached between HUNADO and the IWF in 2012 focused mainly on prices, 
as HUNADO's low prices and high value for money provided a decisive factor in the IWF's 
commission to carry out the sampling (see X. 4.1.3). Therefore, the HUNADO-IWF 
agreement valid for the period under review (2014-2015) focuses primarily on prices and 
sets out the conditions that HUNADO as a sample collection authority is required to meet 
(such as liability insurance, ISO certification, professional experience, WADA-compliant 
operation, etc., see Annex 18). Although not explicitly mentioned in the HUNADO offer, 
the names of the athletes to be checked out-of-competition were always defined by the 
IWF as the testing authority, as confirmed by the doping control forms and the data 
found in ADAMS. For all samples, the IWF is listed as a testing authority in ADAMS. It is 
not possible to attach the ADAMS statement and forms to all samples in this report, 
however, they are freely available and verifiable by WADA at any time. 
  
The agreement between the Parties was renewed in 2017, setting out the terms of the 
multi-annual cooperation (Annex 19). Clause 1 of this agreement already states, in line 
with the practice of previous years, that HUNADO is obliged to carry out sampling in 
accordance with the criteria defined by the IWF (athlete contact and location, event date, 
selection criteria, special screening requirements). 
 
HUNADO doping control officers did not participate (and could not participate) in 
determining the athletes to be inspected during the period investigated by the 
Documentary (2014-2015), or at any other time. This is a matter for the exclusive 
competence of the IWF. These tasks were performed by the Clean Sport Commission 
within the IWF. The Documentary suggests wrongly that it would have been the 
responsibility of HUNADO doping inspectors to decide whether or not, for example, a 
Georgian weightlifter, Lasha Talakhadze, should be subjected to doping control before 
returning from his ban (Annex 11 - Section 8), as only anti-doping organizations with 
authority over the Athlete (IWF, or Georgian NADO) are entitled to decide and enforce 
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this. As a service provider, HUNADO cannot be considered a competent organization for a 
Georgian weightlifter. 

5.3.  Obtaining IWF records 

The Documentary claims that the 2015 World Championships in Houston is the only IWF 
World Championship where doping controls were not performed by HUNADO: 
„And it emerges that the IWF has only ever commissioned HUNADO officers to oversee 
World Championships. With just one exception. At the World Championships in Houston, 
Texas, in 2015.” (Annex 11. pages 9-10) 
 
The statement is false. JADA (Japan Anti-Doping Agency) conducted the doping control of 
the 2017 Junior World Championships (Tokyo, June 15-23, 2017), USADA conducted the 
doping control of the 2017 Senior World Championships (Anaheim, November 28, 2017 - 
December 5), ORADO (Oceania Regional Anti-Doping Organization) conducted the doping 
control of the 2018 Oceanian Championships, ITA conducted the doping control of the 
2019 Senior World Championships (Pattaya, September 18-27, 2019), although with 
regard to the doping control of the latter event, the ITA also requested HUNADO to 
participate in the doping control of the World Championship through its doping control 
officers as a subcontractor of the ITA. Although HUNADO’s expertise and experience was 
also used by ITA at the 2019 World Championships, HUNADO was naturally not named 
here by anyone. Typically, however, the sample of the 2019 Senior World Championships 
that resulted in the only one adverse analytical finding was also taken by HUNADO’s 
officers. 
 
The Documentary’s claim that the Houston World Cup was the only IWF world event not 
sampled by HUNADO is also false. 
 

5.4. Obtaining the contract between IWF and USADA (Houston, 2015) 

The Documentary in bad faith suggests that by breaking the hegemony of the 
professionally unfit Eastern European HUNADO, USADA finally brought the long-awaited 
light in the life of weightlifting in 2015: the film suggests that USADA’s participation in the 
Houston Senior World Championships (2015) ended with 24 positive cases: 
 
„By the end, the US Agency in Houston had caught 24 doping sinners at a stroke.” (Annex 
11. pages 10-11). 
 
The statement is false.  

 
On the one hand, HUNADO did take part in the doping control of the World    
Championships in Houston. It was part of the agreement between HUNADO and the IWF 
to delegate HUNADO experts at the request of the IWF (Annex 19, point 24). Under an 
agreement between USADA and the IWF, experts delegated to the World Championships 
in Houston were provided by HUNADO at the request of the IWF. 
On this basis, HUNADO performed the following tasks at the Houston World 
Championships (Annex 20, point 8): 
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- assisted USADA in their work with sport-specific knowledge, 

- disclosed and communicated the updates of and changes to test distribution plan 
to USADA, 

- assisted the USADA DCOs with the notification of the athletes, 

- assisted in the training of notifying chaperones, 

- helped with translation in German, Russian, Polish, Romanian, Hungarian (also 
see what is included in:  X. 4.1.3. b). 

 
HUNADO therefore participated in the sampling and even held a key position in the 
sampling system. Although only one organization can be designated as a sample 
collection authority in ADAMS (and that was USADA), documents prove that HUNADO 
was involved in the doping control. Thus, HUNADO's experts were involved, among other 
things, in the notification of athletes, where - if we accept the statements of the 
Documentary - a sample can be manipulated the most (here the identity is checked, etc.). 
And yet, there were plenty of positive cases at the World Championships in a way that 
was not hidden by Documentary! 

 
On the other hand, it is not true that the discovery of 24 positive cases is due to USADA's 
involvement: 
 

- Pursuant to Clause 1 of the USADA-IWF Agreement (Annex 20), USADA was 
required to perform sampling in accordance with the test distribution plan 
prepared by the IWF, 

- Pursuant to Clause 8 (a) of the USADA-IWF Agreement (Annex 20), the test 
distribution plan had been made available to USADA Doping Control Officers by 
experts delegated by HUNADO, 

- in the same way, the experts delegated by HUNADO were entitled to 
communicate any changes to the test distribution plan (Annex 20, point 8 (a)), 

- therefore, USADA had no influence on what kind of athletes were to be tested, it 
was HUNADO who provided USADA DCOs with the plan about who should be 
inspected, and under what criteria,  

- USADA doping control officers implemented the test distribution plan provided by 
HUNADO and collected urine samples (HUNADO experts did not participate in the 
collection of urine samples or blood). 

 
USADA had no influence on the design and compilation of the TDP of the Houston World 
Championships. Only the testing experts delegated by HUNADO were entitled to 
communicate who had to be checked, according to which aspects (including the 
communication of the possible updating and modification of the TDP), in the knowledge 
of the sport-specific rules they represent. The Documentary misleadingly suggests that 
HUNADO did not participate in the doping control of the World Championships in 
Houston and falsely attributes the successes of the doping control exclusively to USADA, 
as USADA doping control officers actually only performed doping control on athletes 
selected under IWF criteria. 
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5.5. Obtaining Correspondence from the IWF and USADA, as well as the IWF and WADA, 
also featured in the Documentary 

To understand the subject matter examined in Section 5.4, it is essential to understand 
why USADA was entrusted by the IWF to perform the doping control of the Houston 
World Championships in 2015 as a sample collection authority and why HUNADO was not 
entrusted with this task. 
 

„The IWF had originally planned that Hungary’s HUNADO would also be responsible for 
testing in Houston. As ever. But there was resistance. 
The local US Anti-Doping Agency USADA was wary, and insisted that it did the testing 
itself.  
 

The IWF sent a letter of protest, seeking to minimise US influence and to deploy “HUNADO 
officers with experience in weightlifting”. President Tamás Aján himself made the request.  
But to no avail: primary responsibility was assumed by the US, and not Hungary. They had 
hotel rooms checked, where they found injecting equipment and took photographic 
evidence. 
 
By the end, the US Agency in Houston had caught 24 doping sinners at a stroke.” (Annex 
11, page 10-11) 
 
The IWF would have, indeed, wished to entrust HUNADO with the doping control of the 
Houston World Championships as a sample collection authority. However, the 
Documentary depicts the situation in a context in which the IWF would have insisted on 
HUNADO’s work because IWF wanted to manipulate the sampling. This is untrue.  
 
This is not referred to in the Documentary, but there were actually three reasons why the 
IWF wanted to entrust HUNADO with the conduct of the Houston sampling: 
 

- HUNADO’s  sport specific knowledge 
 

- US law working rules: USADA made the Houston World Cup doping control a prestige 
issue, with doping control at all costs being carried out by U.S. doping control officers. 
Their reference focused on U.S. labor regulations as an argument, claiming that doping 
control officers from other countries could not have performed doping control tasks. 
Although no explanation was given as to why these rules would only apply to doping 
control officers, and not to other World Championships staff (IWF staff, technical staff, 
etc.). See the correspondence of IWF and USADA in this respect (Annex 21). Despite 
the lack of clarity above and unanswered legal issues, the IWF gave in to pressure and 
allowed USADA to take “primary responsibility” for doping controls. 

 

- The services of USADA are disproportionately and unusually costly: the IWF also 
insisted on HUNADO's participation for financial reasons. It would have been much 
more worthwhile for the IWF to use HUNADO's services in terms of value for money, 
even if it had to finance the travel and accommodation expenses of HUNADO's doping 
control officers. See the IWF’s letter to WADA (Annex 22) that USADA works twice as 
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expensive as HUNADO, however, its knowledge of world weightlifting competitions is 
severely limited compared to that of HUNADO. 

5.6. Obtaining HUNADO and IWF records 

Although the persons identified as witnesses in the Documentary do not claim that 
HUNADO's doping controllers were involved in the manipulation of samples of Moldovan 
athletes (see X. 4.1.7), the narrator of the Documentary suggests that HUNADO is 
involved: 
 
„Clean urine for cash? With doppelgängers? There is much to suggest that it was testers 
from Hungary’s HUNADO who were involved in this dirty game. Was that the case?” 
(Annex 11, page 13). 
 
A key issue in conducting this internal investigation is whether Moldovan nationals were 
inspected by doping control officers on behalf of HUNADO in 2014 and 2015. 
 
2015 
 
According to HUNADO's records, HUNADO doping inspectors did not test Moldovan 
athletes in 2015. 
 
2014 
 
At the request of the Internal Audit Group, HUNADO reviewed the documentation of the 
sampling of Moldovan athletes in 2014, including the notification forms. Based on these, 
it verified the identity of the athletes involved, the sampling conditions (doping control 
forms, DCO reports) and obtained detailed statements from the doping control officers 
performing the sampling. 
 
Details of out-of-competition (OOC) sampling by HUNADO doping controllers on 
Moldovan athletes: 
 

HUNADO 
file no. 

Type 
of 
testing 

Testing 
authority 

Date of the 
mission 

Location ADAMS 
mission 
code 

Tested Moldavian 
athletes 

2014/018 OOC IWF 2014.03.17-
2014.03.20. 

Chisinau 
Moldavia 

M-
299650222  
 

Artiom PIPA 
Ghenadie DUDOGLO 
Iurie BULAT 

2014/053 OOC IWF 2014.10.12-
2014.10.14. 

Chisinau 
Moldavia 

M-
334482414 

Artiom PIPA 
Ghenadie DUDOGLO 
Iurie BULAT 

 
The declarations of doping control officers participating in the above two missions (M-
299650222 and M-334482414) are examined in Section X. 5.7. So HUNADO carried out 
the testing of 3 Moldovan athletes during 2014. 
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Based on the information provided by the IWF, the samples of the above athletes for the 
period 2014-2015 are as follows: 
 

Athlete sample no. Date of 
testing 

Location of 
testing 

Type of 
testing 

Sample 
collection 
authority 

Artiom PIPA 
 

2864327 2014-03-18 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC HUNADO 

Artiom PIPA 
 

2962347 2014-10-13 Chisinau 
Moldavia  

OOC HUNADO 

Artiom PIPA 
 

2962629 2014-11-11 World 
Championships 
Almaty, 
Kazahsztán 

IC HUNADO 

Artiom PIPA 
 

3794318 2015-11-08 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC PWC GmbH 

Artiom PIPA 1581883 2015-11-23 Houston, USA IC USADA 

Ghenadie 
DUDOGLO 
 

2864328 2014-03-18 Chisinau 
Moldavia 
 

OOC HUNADO 

Ghenadie 
DUDOGLO 
 

2962401 2014-10-13 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC HUNADO 

Ghenadie 
DUDOGLO 

3794316 2015-11-08 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC PWC GmbH 

Ghenadie 
DUDOGLO 

1582215 2015-11-21 Houston, USA IC USADA 

Iurie BULAT 2864331 2014-03-18 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC HUNADO 

Iurie BULAT 2962346 2014-10-13 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC HUNADO 

Iurie BULAT 2776601* 
 
* subsample due 
to dilute urine: 
sample code: 
101888 

2014-11-26 European 
Junior and U23 
Championships 
Limassol, Cyp 

IC CyADA 

Iurie BULAT 3876172 2015-04-16 Európa-
bajnokság 
Tbilisi, Grúzia 

IC HUNADO 

Iurie BULAT 3794315 2015-11-08 N/A N/A PWC GmbH 

Iurie BULAT 15882232 2015-11-24 Houston, USA IC USADA 

5.7.  Declaration by Doping Control Officers involved in Moldovan sampling 

According to HUNADO's records, HUNADO did not carry out doping controls on Moldovan 
athletes in 2015 on behalf of the IWF, and in 2014 it inspected Moldovan weightlifters 
within the framework of two missions (M-299650222 and M-334482414) (see X. 5.6). In 
ADAMS, under the mission codes M-299650222 and M-334482414, two foreign language-
speaking doping control officers with extensive doping control experience, who work in 
health care in their civilian lives took part in the Moldovan sampling: Dr. Dóra Molnár and 
Endre Bodonyi. 
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The doping control officers conducted doping control in accordance with applicable 
WADA testing requirements (WADA International Standard for Testing, applicable in 
2014) and HUNADO Regulations. 
 
„IST 2014, Article 5.3.4 The ADO shall establish criteria to validate the identity of an 
Athlete selected to provide a Sample. This ensures the selected Athlete is the Athlete who 
is notified. The method of identification of the Athlete shall be documented on the doping 
control documentation.” 
 
Based on the above authorization, according to the Sampling Regulations of HUNADO in 
force in 2014: 
 
“When notifying an Athlete, DCOs must request and accept an official ID card with a 
photograph and serial number as proof of the Athlete's identity, and in exceptional cases, 
the fact of other identification (e.g., identification by a third party) must be recorded in a 
supplementary report and attached to the Sample Documentation. If the Athlete's 
whereabouts information includes a photograph, the DCO shall use it to identify the 
Athlete. " 

 
The doping control officers checked the identity documents presented by the athletes in 
accordance with the above rules: 
 

 ID no. (2014-03-18) ID no. (2014-10-13) 

Artiom PIPA Passport – B1013496 Passport – B1013496 

Ghenadie DUDOGLO Passport – A3390834 Passport – A3390834 

Iurie BULAT Passport - B0511449 Passport - B0511449 

 
Notification forms and doping control forms are attached as Annexes 23-28. 
 
The doping control officers also checked the photos on the document with the athletes 
who appeared on the spot, and having detected no circumstance indicating a 
discrepancy, they conducted the doping control.  
 
Following the publication of the Documentary, the Internal Audit Group contacted the 
doping control officers in the case, who stated that the Athletes tested during the 
sampling in question were “cooperative, with no attention-grabbing or unusual 
behaviors”. The Athletes tested were under the supervision of one of the doping control 
officers from the notification throughout the sample period. The sampling took place 
where the athletes were notified. Athletes neither indicated that the sample they 
submitted would not be the sample they provided (see internal audit reports: Annexes 29 
and 30). 
  
The doping control officers notified the athletes in accordance with the applicable WADA 
IST 2014, verified the identification documents they presented, and then monitored the 
sample providers throughout the sampling until the sampling was completed. The sample 
provided by the athletes was sealed and shipped, the samples were taken intact by the 
analysis laboratory in accordance with the rules of chain of custody, and no report was 
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made on the integrity of the samples. No undue advantage was offered to doping 
controllers during the sampling, nor was such an advantage claimed or accepted and the 
manipulation of samples was not allowed (see the statements of doping control officers 
in the knowledge of their criminal responsibility, attached as Annexes 31 and 32). 

5.8. Obtaining a statement by Dorin Balmus for further details 

During the interviews with Dorin Balmus in August and November 2019, no reference is 
made to the involvement of Hungarian doping controllers, see X.4.1.7: Balmus's 
statements are general. Only the interviews of August 2019 and November 2019, side by 
side, suggest the involvement of Hungarian doping controllers (and not HUNADO's doping 
controllers!), it is the narrator who adds that there is good reason to believe that 
HUNADO's doping control officers participated in the abuses reported by Balmus. 
 
Despite all this, Dorin Balmus can be considered one of the key figures in the 
Documentary, so it is essential to obtain Dorin Balmus’s interpretive statement. 
 
As a national anti-doping organization, HUNADO does not have classical investigative 
powers and, as a non-governmental organization, does not exercise public authority. A 
NADO may do one thing in the course of its investigations under the WADA Code: it will 
contact other competent ADOs, in this case the Moldovan NADO (Government of the 
Republic of Moldova, National Anti-Doping Agency). In accordance with Articles 20.5.3 
and 20.5.7 of the WADA Code, the Moldovan NADO shall cooperate fully:  
 
„Roles and Responsibilities of National Anti-Doping Organizations. 
 
20.5.3 To cooperate with other relevant national organizations and agencies and other 
Anti-Doping Organizations. 
 
20.5.7 To vigorously pursue all potential anti-doping rule violations within its jurisdiction 
including investigation into whether Athlete Support Personnel or other Persons may have 
been involved in each case of doping and to ensure proper enforcement of Consequences.” 
 
Based on the above, HUNADO contacted Moldovan NADO by letter dated 30 January 
2020 (see Annex 33), requesting their assistance in locating Dorin Balmus and obtaining 
his statement from a credible source. HUNADO addressed the following questions to 
Dorin Balmus: 
 

1. Explanation of the circumstances of the hidden camera interview, 
 
2. Did he state that HUNADO DCOs were bribed, or involved in any manipulation of 

samples? 
 
3. Is he aware of any DCO delegated by HUNADO who accepted money so that any 

athlete can cheat, swap the samples, or manipulate the sample collection process 
in any other way? If so, could he name the DCO(s), if any, who were involved in 
such malpractice? 
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4. Any additional information, evidence (e.g. date of sample collection etc.). 
 

After no reply to the above request was received for over a month, HUNADO requested 
the assistance of WADA to obtain the statement (see Annex 34). 
 
Finally, with the help of WADA (Annex 35), HUNADO received the statement of Dorin 
Balmus on 6 March, 2020. Dorin Balmus’s statement is attached in Annexes 36 and 37. 
 
In this statement, Dorin Balmus states briefly and concisely: 
 
„Based on these factual and legal considerations, I am firmly convinced and declare with 
full responsibility that in the Republic of Moldova I do not know about any cases of 
regulatory deviations for the collection of the tests by HUNADO delegates and do not have 
any additional information in this case.” 
 
On the basis of to Dorin Balmus's statement above, HUNADO's doping control officers 
cannot be accused of any abuse. 

5.9. Obtaining the DNA reports from Cologne 

According to the statements of Hans Geyer examined under X. 4.1.9.  the samples of 
some Moldovan athletes taken before the World Championships in Houston (2015) 
resulted in negativity and then other samples taken at the World Championships in 
Houston resulted in positivity (Annex 11, page 14). 
 
The negative samples were analysed in Cologne. The samples taken during the World 
Championships and also analysed in Cologne referred to the previous use of prohibited 
substances, therefore Hans Geyer, the expert of the Cologne laboratory, by performing 
DNA tests, concludes that donor individuals provided the sample for the negative samples 
(Annex 11, page 14). 
 
In his explanation, Hans Geyer refers to DNA analyses and the athletes’ biological 
passport data, which is why HUNADO obtained the results of the DNA analyses. As the 
IWF is the owner of the international samples taken for weightlifting, HUNADO turned to 
the IWF to obtain the results of the DNA analyses (Annex 38/A). The findings regarding 
the Athlete Biological Passport data are discussed in Section X. 5.9. 
 
The IWF's formal reply (Annex 38/B) contains the following key findings: 
 

- DNA analysis performed by the Cologne Laboratory on samples Nos. 3794318 and 
3794316. proved that the samples were manipulated, i.e. these samples came 
from persons with DNA profiles different from those of the athletes concerned; 

- the location of the sampling: Chisinau, Moldavia,  

- the date of the sampling: 8 November 2015, 

- regarding samples 3794318 and 3794316 WADA was designated as the Testing 
Authority; 

- the samplings were not conducted by HUNADO; 

- the samples were taken by the sampling agency PWC GmbH on behalf of WADA.  
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„I confirm that for the manipulated samples (sample numbers: 3794318 and 3794316),  
according to the ADAMS database, the World Anti-Doping Agency was recorded as 
Testing Authority and PWC was recorded as the Sample Collection Authority. The testing 
mission was conducted by PWC on 8 November 2015 in Chisinau, Moldova.” 
 
The samples affected by the manipulation are highlighted in red in the table recorded 
under point 5.6. 

5.9.1. Manipulated samples of Artiom Pipa Moldavian weightlifter 

Sampling as a basis for demonstrating sample manipulation: 
 

Sample no. Urine / 
blood 

Date of 
testing 

Place of 
testing 

Type of 
testing 

SCA 

3794318 urine 2015-11-08 Chisinau, 
Moldova 

OOC PWC 
GmbH 

1581883 urine 2015-11-23 Houston, US IC USADA 

626901 blood 2018-10-23 Kankaanpaa, 
Finland 

OOC FINCIS - 
Finnish 
Center for 
Integrity 
in Sports 

 
Analytical tests carried out by the Cologne Laboratory found that Nos. 3794318 and 
1581883 urine samples are from individuals with different DNA parameters. 
 
In order to determine which of the above samples may match the Athlete’s actual DNA 
parameters, the Laboratory reviewed blood sample 626901. By comparing a blood 
sample No. 626901 with the DNA profile of both urine samples (3794318 and 1581883), it 
was found that no. 1581883 urine sample taken on 23/11/2015 in Houston comes from 
the athlete, while sample No. 3794318 taken in Chisianau on 08/11/2015 is not from the 
Athlete (Appendix 39). 
 
According to the DNA analyses carried out by the Cologne Laboratory the urine sample 
No. 3794318 of Artiom Pipa Moldavian weightlifter, taken on 08/11/2015 in Chisianau, is 
considered manipulated.  
 
According to the sampling form the manipulated sample No. 3794318 was taken by the 
doping control officers of PWC GmbH  (see Annex 41), therefore the doping control 
officers of HUNADO did could not have been involved in sample manipulation. 
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5.9.2. Manipulated samples of Ghenadie DUDOGLO Moldavian weightlifter 

Sample no. Urine / 
blood 

Date of 
testing 

Place of 
testing 

 

Type of 
testing 

SCA 

3794316 urine 2015-11-08 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC PWC GmbH 

1582215 urine 2015-11-21 Houston, USA IC USADA 

341614 blood 2018-02-09 Chisinau 
Moldavia 

OOC HUNADO 

 
Analytical tests carried out by the Cologne Laboratory have shown that urine samples No. 
3794316 and No. 1582215 are from individuals with different DNA properties. 
 
In order to determine which of the above samples may match the Athlete's actual DNA 
parameters, the Laboratory considered blood sample No. 341614 as a basis. By comparing 
a blood sample No. 341614 with the DNA profile of both urine samples (No. 3794316 and 
1582215), it was found that No. 1582215 urine sample taken in Houston on 21/11/2015 
comes from the athlete, while urine sample No. 3794316 taken in Chisianau on 
08/11/2015 is not from the Athlete (Annex 40). 

 
According to the DNA analyses carried out by the Cologne Laboratory the urine sample 
No. 3794316 of Ghenadie Dudoglo Moldavian weightlifter, taken on 08/11/2015 in 
Chisianau, is considered manipulated.  
 
According to the sampling form the manipulated sample No. 3794316 was taken by the 
doping control officers of PWC GmbH  (see Annex 42), therefore the doping control 
officers of HUNADO did could not have been involved in sample manipulation 

5.9.3. Samples of Iurie Bulat Moldavian weightlifter 

The fact of manipulation was not proven in the case of the third athlete, who inspected 
by HUNADO among the suspected athletes during the 2014 sampling under mission codes 
M-299650222 and M-334482414. The Athlete produced an adverse analytical finding and 
was banned at the Houston World Championships. 
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PART THREE 

XI. Conclusion and findings of the Internal Audit 

 

1. Interpretation and evaluation of the obtained evidence separately and together, drawing 
conclusions 

HUNADO’s position in the cooperation between IWF and HUNADO 
 

The relationship between HUNADO and IWF has concentrated entirely on sampling, as is 
recorded in the contracts between the parties and the status of the samples taken by 
HUNADO published in ADAMS (as a testing authority IWF appears in the case of all 
samples).  
 
HUNADO's doping control officers did not (and could not) participate in the 
determination of the range of athletes to be tested during the period investigated (2014-
2015) by the Documentary, or at any other time. In all cases, HUNADO acted as a “sample 
collection authority” in the doping controls, and received written instructions for 
sampling from the IWF Clean Sport Commission, who had the exclusive right to decide 
which athletes are to be tested and when. 
 
The Documentary falsely suggests that it would have been the responsibility of 
HUNADO’s doping control officers to decide whether or not a Georgian weightlifter, 
Lasha Talakhadze, should be subjected to doping control before returning from his ban, 
as it is only the ADOs (IWF, or Georgian NADO) who have the authority to decide and 
implement testing for the Athlete alone. As a service provider, HUNADO cannot be 
considered a competent organization with respect to a Georgian weightlifter.    
 
It should be noted that HUNADO carried out sampling on behalf of the IWF mostly in the 
Asian and Eastern European region, mainly because most West-European sampling 
agencies, even if they undertake remote, eastern missions, have their sampling carried 
out by doping control officers resident in the destination country, in the vast majority of 
cases. This circumstance alone calls into question the impartiality of sampling and bias-
free and manipulation-free sampling in some countries in the Asian region. Sampling 
outside the Western European and American competitions was mostly performed by 
other anti-doping organizations than HUNADO, for which HUNADO was never 
commissioned. 
  
The World Championships in Houston 

 
According to the claim of the Documentary HUNADO sampled all IWF World 
Championships, with the exception of the 2015 Houston World Championships, where 
USADA and not HUNADO were commissioned to perform the sampling. 
 
However, the data examined prove that, contrary to the Documentary's claim, a number 
of world events were sampled by organizations other than HUNADO (e.g. 2017 Junior 
World Championships - JADA, 2019 Junior World Championships - ORADO). Moreover, 
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there were cases where HUNADO inspectors were involved in a “joint mission”. For 
example, 2019 Los Angeles, where USADA and HUNADO were jointly responsible for 
conducting the sampling. 
 
The Documentary wrongly suggests that HUNADO had not conducted its work 
professionally in the years preceding 2015, and that was the reason for USADA being 
delegated as a sampling authority. By contrast, the documents examined 
(correspondence between the IWF and WADA and between the IWF and the USADA) 
show that USADA's participation was based primarily on employment law grounds. 
USADA was particularly pleased with HUNADO’s service, with HUNADO and USADA 
conducting doping controls for 2 further World Championships in the form of  “joint 
missions” (NADO-NADO cooperation) after the 2015 World Championships in Houston. 
 
The documents examined (agreement between USADA and IWF, agreement between IWF 
and HUNADO, correspondence between IWF and WADA, and IWF and USADA) further 
demonstrate that USADA had no effect on the planning and compilation of the TDP of the 
World Championship in Houston, therefore the Documentary falsely gives the impression 
that USADA’s involvement in doping control would have brought a kind of 
“breakthrough” in the world of international weightlifting. According to the 2015 
agreement between the IWF and USADA, only the IWF had the right to decide who was to 
be controlled at the World Championships and in what terms. In light of all this, it is clear 
that the doping control officers of USADA did, in fact, only carry out doping controls on 
Athletes selected in accordance with the IWF. 
 
The Documentary also misleadingly suggests that HUNADO was not involved in the 
doping control the World Championships in Houston, as is clearly refuted by the 
agreement between the IWF and HUNADO and the correspondence between USADA and 
the IWF. Based on all this, the Documentary falsely attributes the successes of the doping 
control of the Houston World Championships exclusively to USADA. 
 
Moldavian sampling 

 
The Documentary features statements made by different individuals, edited one after the 
other, in the order and content that gives the viewer a false impression that HUNADO's 
doping control officers may have been involved in sample manipulations. None of the 
persons commenting on the matter (Oliver Caruso, Dorin Balmus, Hans Geyer) claims that 
a Hungarian doping control officer had ever asked for or accepted money or been 
involved in any fraud. 
 
The statements of the Documentary were made in two circumstances: 
 
1.) Manipulation of doping control, 
2.) Involvement of Hungarian doping control officers. 
 
However, the above two conditions are not mentioned together by either of the 
statements, i.e. neither of the statements states that Hungarian doping controllers were 
involved in the manipulation of doping controls: 
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- Oliver Caruso speaks about certain manipulations (condition 1), but does not 
mention Hungarian doping control officers (condition 2),  

- Doring Balmus, in his interview of August 2019 claims in general that Moldavian 
athletes had been tested by Hungarians („Well, we were tested by anti-doping 
officers from Hungary.” – condition 2), but does not speak about manipulation 
(condition 1),  

- four months later, Doring Balmus speaks about certain manipulations in his 
interview in November 2019 (condition 1), however, he does not mention 
Hungarian doping control officers (condition 2).  

 
Therefore, Dorin Balmus's interviews in August 2019 and November 2019, placed side by 
side, suggest only the involvement of Hungarian doping control officers (and not 
HUNADO's doping control officers!). 
 
Since there is no logical or substantive link between the statements of different persons 
on different subjects and made at different times, they are therefore unsuitable for joint 
interpretation and conclusion. The allegations made in the various statements are only 
logically “linked” by the narrator when he claims “there is good reason to believe” that 
the abuses reported by Balmus involved HUNADO’s doping control officers. However, the 
narrator fails to explain on what he bases his above statement, referring only to the 
Cologne Laboratory: 
 
“Narrator: Clean urine for cash? With doppelgängers? There is much to suggest that it 
was testers from Hungary’s HUNADO who were involved in this dirty game. Was that the 
case? The key to the answer lies in Cologne." 
 
The issue could have been easily clarified by examining the hidden video recordings in 
full, which would also reveal the context and antecedents of the conversations, but 
despite the strong request of HUNADO, the Media Crew refused to release the video 
recordings. All this in itself raises the question of bad faith of the German television 
channel, and we are rightly asking why the recordings should not be made public. If the 
German news channel were interested in finding out the truth and in the transparency of 
anti-doping work, it would obviously have released the recordings. 
 
Results of the DNA analyses by Cologne  
 
As the Documentary refers to the Cologne Laboratory itself („The key to the answer lies in 
Cologne."), the Internal Audit Group obtained, examined and assessed the results of the 
DNA analyses of the Cologne Laboratory. According to the IWF, the test owner of the 
samples taken in weightlifting, the Cologne Laboratory performed DNA analysis on two 
Moldovan athletes. The two athletes are Artiom Pipa and Ghenadie Dudoglo. 
 
Based on the results of the DNA analysis in Cologne, which is the subject of the present 
study, the following can be established: 
 

- according to the DNA analyses carried out by the Cologne Laboratory the urine 
sample No. 3794318 of Artiom Pipa Moldavian weightlifter, taken on 08/11/2015 
in Chisianau, is considered manipulated; 
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- according to the DNA analyses carried out by the Cologne Laboratory the urine 
sample No. 3794316 of Ghenadie Dudoglo Moldavian weightlifter, taken on 
08/11/2015 in Chisianau, is considered manipulated.  

 
Identification of the organization involved in the taking of the manipulated samples  
 
Based on the above information, the Internal Audit Group contacted the IWF and 
requested the issuance of sampling forms based on the DNA results. 
 
According to the sampling forms, HUNADO did not act as a service provider at the doping 
control of either Artiom Pipa’s manipulated sample No.3794318 or Ghenadie Dudoglo’s 
manipulated sample No. 3794316. The sampling agency was PWC GmbH. 
 
HUNADO's doping controllers were therefore not involved in any sample manipulation on 
the basis of the evidence relied on by Documentary. 
 
Dorin Balmus’ statement of 2020 

 
As the present investigation seeks to conduct a comprehensive investigation of the facts, 
with the assistance of WADA, the Internal Audit Group also contacted the Dorin Balmus, 
the person making the statement, and requested that he name the relevant Hungarian 
doping control officers. However, in his statement, Dorin Balmus strongly denied that he 
was aware of the involvement of Hungarian doping control officers and complained about 
the recording and inclusion of his 2019 statements in the Documentary: 
 
„Based on these factual and legal considerations, I am firmly convinced and declare with 
full responsibility that in the Republic of Moldova I do not know about any cases of 
regulatory deviations for the collection of the tests by HUNADO delegates and do not have 
any additional information in this case.” 

 
The vague statements of the persons commenting on the Documentary were thus made 
clear by Dorin Balmus by declaring that HUNADO's doping control officers had not been 
involved in the manipulation he referred to. This statement of Dorin Balmus is fully in line 
with the DNA analyses and the corresponding doping control forms. All this key evidence 
supports the fact that HUNADO is not involved in the sample manipulation raised by the 
Documentary.  
 
Based on the above, the Documentary falsely claimed that HUNADO's doping control 
officers had participated in sample manipulations according to analytical results from the 
Cologne Laboratory. Furthermore, the Documentary also falsely suggests that Dorin 
Balmus referred to HUNADO’s doping control officers when he spoke of sample 
manipulation. 
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Key findings of the internal audit 

 

I. HUNADO, as a Sample Collection Authority, carried out the sampling 
commissioned by the IWF, and had not had any kind of effect as SCA on the 
group of athletes to be tested, or the criteria of the testing. 

 

II. HUNADO was commissioned by the IWF, among many other aspects 
(geographical location, language, experience), mainly because HUNADO 
provided a much cheaper, yet professionally high quality service compared to 
other sampling agencies. 

 

III. The documents examined (IWF statistics, IWF and USADA / WADA 
correspondence, USADA-IWF agreement) confirm that 

 a) in addition to the 2015 World Championships in Houston, a number of 
IWF world events were not sampled by HUNADO alone, 

 b) HUNADO participated in the doping control of the 2015 Houston 
World Championships through its experts, 

 c) in 2015, USADA forced the participation of its own doping control 
officers, citing primarily the  legal environment of the United States, 

 d) the Documentary falsely attributes the successes at Houston to 
USADA as USADA had no say in the compilation of the TDP, 

 e) the Documentary falsely attributes the successes at Houston to 
USADA as HUNADO was also involved in the doping control, 

 f) the Documentary falsely suggests that USADA „brought light to the 
dark Middle Ages” in 2015, although the 2015 Houston World 
Championships resulted in a really high number of adverse analytical 
findings, two years later USADA produced a historic low in the 
number of positive samplings for IWF world events. 

IV. According to the DNA analytical results obtained in the framework of the present 
study, the manipulation of the samples was demonstrated with respect to the 
sampling of two Moldavian athletes: urine samples no. 3794318 and no. 
3794316. These samplings were not conducted by HUNADO. 
 

V. Urine samples nos. 3794318 and 3794316 were taken by the sampling agency 
PWC GmbH. The Documentary falsely claims that HUNADO would be involved in 
the manipulation of the sampling. 
 

VI. None of the persons appearing in the Documentary claim that HUNADO's doping 
control officers would have engaged in any objectionable conduct. 

 

VII. Conversations with three different individuals (Oliver Caruso, Dorin Balmus, 
Hans Geyer) had been edited in a context that creates a false image in the 
viewer as if HUNADO doping control officers had been involved in sample 
manipulations. 
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VIII. The negative emotional impact against HUNADO was also meant to be 
reinforced by the fact that behind the soundtrack on manipulated sampling in 
2015, the name HUNADO was edited under an image of sampling statistics by 
the documentary filmmakers. It can only be seen by slowing down / stopping the 
Documentary that the image material shows 2014 documents, while the sample 
manipulations mentioned by the Cologne Laboratory took place in 2015, when 
HUNADO did not carry out any doping control in Moldova. 
 

IX. The vague statements of Oliver Caruso, Dorin Balmus, Hans Geyer and the 
narrator commenting on the Documentary were made clear by Dorin Balmus by 
declaring that HUNADO's doping control officers had not been involved in the 
manipulation he referred to. This statement of Dorin Balmus is fully in line with 
the DNA analytical reports and the corresponding doping control forms. All this 
key evidence supports the fact that HUNADO is not involved in the sample 
manipulation raised by the Documentary. 

X. Based on the above, the Documentary falsely claimed that HUNADO's doping 
control officers had participated in sample manipulations according to analytical 
results from the Cologne Laboratory. Furthermore, the Documentary also falsely 
suggests that Dorin Balmus referred to HUNADO’s doping control officers when 
he spoke of sample manipulation. 

2. Closing the internal audit by decision 

As a result of the investigation initiated and conducted on 6 January 2020 under case 
number 2020/01, HUNADO's Internal Audit Group concludes that 
 
the involvement of an expert or doping control officer cannot be established 
 
in connection with the abuses referred to by the “Lord of the Lifters / Herr der Heber”, 
a Documentary concerning the International Weightlifting Federation, broadcast by 
ARD Television and produced by Eye Opening Media GmbH.  

3. Initiation of doping proceedings against the affected person, prosecution as necessary, 
notification of the authorities in case of suspicion of a criminal offense in case of 
substantiation of the allegations of the Documentary Film and in case of involvement of 
athletes and / or Doping Control Officers  

The personal involvement or liability of neither a doping control officer nor any other 
person within HUNADO's jurisdiction has arisen. 

4. Taking appropriate legal action against the ARD channel (press redress, reputational 
damage, damages in the event that the allegations of the Documentary are unfounded) 

As, in the light of the results of the present investigation, the allegations concerning 
HUNADO in the Documentary were completely unfounded HUNADO requested Bird & 
Bird LLP to represent it in the lawsuit against ARD and to take the necessary legal 
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action. The request for a correction of the press was submitted within the time limit 
under German law. 

5. Informing WADA of the results of the Internal Audit, sending a report of the Internal 
Audit to WADA 

The report of this Internal Audit shall be sent to WADA immediately upon completion. 

6. Communicating the results of the Internal Audit 

This internal investigation report shall be communicated immediately upon completion. 
 


